
For requests for further information 
Contact: Josie Lloyd 
Tel: 01270 686466 
E-Mail: josie.lloyd@cheshireeast.gov.uk with any apologies 

 
 

Cared For Children and Care Leavers 
Committee 

 

Agenda 
 

Date: Tuesday, 5th September, 2023 

Time: 2.00 pm 

Venue: Committee Suite 1,2 & 3, Westfields, Middlewich Road, 
Sandbach CW11 1HZ 

 
 

The agenda is divided into 2 parts. Part 1 is taken in the presence of the public and press. 
Part 2 items will be considered in the absence of the public and press for the reasons 
indicated on the agenda and at the top of each report. 
 
It should be noted that Part 1 items of Cheshire East Council decision making meetings 
are audio recorded and the recordings will be uploaded to the Council’s website 
 
 
PART 1 – MATTERS TO BE CONSIDERED WITH THE PUBLIC AND PRESS PRESENT 
 
1. Apologies for Absence   
 
2. Declarations of Interest   
 
 To provide an opportunity for Members and Officers to declare any disclosable 

pecuniary and non-pecuniary interests in any item on the agenda. 
 

3. Minutes of Previous Meeting  (Pages 3 - 4) 
 
 To approve the minutes of the meeting held on 20 June 2023. 

 
4. Update from the Shadow Committee (Verbal Update)   
 
 To receive a verbal update on the Cared for Children and Care Leavers Shadow 

Committee. 
 

Public Document Pack

mailto:josie.lloyd@cheshireeast.gov.uk


5. Cared for Children and Care Leavers Committee Annual Report 2022-23  (Pages 
5 - 36) 

 
 To consider a report setting out the work of the committee and progress against the 

Cared for Children and Care Leavers Strategy over the past year. 
 

6. Cared for Children and Care Leavers Scorecard Q1 2023-24  (Pages 37 - 48) 
 
 To receive the scorecard for quarter one of 2023-24. 

 
7. NHS Universal Family (Care Leaver Covenant) Programme  (Pages 49 - 54) 
 
 To note a report on the Integrated Care Board commitment to the Care Leaver 

Covenant.  
 

 
Membership:  Councillors L Anderson, M Beanland, S Bennett-Wake, C Bulman, D Clark, 
A Critchley, E Gilman, G Hayes, S Holland, B Posnett, J Saunders and B Puddicombe 
 



CHESHIRE EAST COUNCIL 
 

Minutes of a meeting of the Cared For Children and Care Leavers 
Committee 

held on Tuesday, 20th June, 2023 in the Committee Suite 1,2 & 3, Westfields, 
Middlewich Road, Sandbach CW11 1HZ 

 
PRESENT 
 
Councillor C Bulman (Chair) 
Councillor J Saunders (Vice-Chair) 
 
Councillors L Anderson, S Bennett-Wake, C Bulman, D Clark, E Gilman, 
G Hayes, S Holland, B Posnett, J Saunders and B Puddicombe 
 
OFFICERS IN ATTENDANCE 
Deborah Woodcock, Executive Director Children’s Services 
Kerry Birtles, Director of Children’s Social Care 
Annemarie Parker, Head of Service: Cared for Children and Care Leavers 
Laura Rogerson, Head of Service: Inclusion 
Nicola Wycherley, Designated Nurse Safeguarding and Cared for Children, 
NHS Cheshire and Merseyside ICB 
Josie Lloyd, Democratic Services Officer 
 

 
1 APPOINTMENT OF CHAIR  

 
RESOLVED: 
 
That Cllr Carol Bulman be appointed as Chair.  
 

2 APPOINTMENT OF VICE-CHAIR  
 
RESOLVED: 
 
That Cllr Jos Saunders be appointed as Vice-Chair. 
 

3 APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  
 
Apologies for absence were received from Cllr Beanland. 
 

4 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
 
There were no declarations of interest. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 3 Agenda Item 3



5 MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING  
 
RESOLVED: 
 
That the minutes of the meeting held on 7 March 2023 be agreed as a 
correct record. 
 

6 UPDATE FROM SHADOW COMMITTEE (VERBAL UPDATE)  
 
A meeting of the Shadow Committee had been held recently with some 
new young people attending. The meeting was positive and the young 
people had expressed an interest in co-producing new documents and 
initiatives with the Council in the future.  
 
Members of the Cared for Children and Care Leavers Committee were 
encouraged to attend a meeting of the Shadow Committee.  
 
RESOLVED: 
 
That the update be noted.  
 

7 CARED FOR CHILDREN AND CARE LEAVERS QUARTER 4 
SCORECARD 2022/23  
 
The committee received the Cared for Children and Care Leavers 
scorecard for quarter four of 2022-23. 
 
Members raised concerns around the number of vacancies for permanent 
social workers. Officers advised that this was a national issue but that 
social work recruitment and retention was higher in Cheshire East than in 
some other authorities. Cheshire East had set up social work 
apprenticeships and was also about to start a targeted campaign to recruit 
more experienced social workers. 
 
It was noted that the number of children who had not received a dental 
check within 12 months appeared to be increasing but that these figures 
were likely to have increased due to improved reporting. Work was 
ongoing to continue improving dental care for cared for children and young 
people.  
 
RESOLVED: 
 
That the report be noted.  
 
 
 
 

The meeting commenced at 14:00 and concluded at 14:38 
 

Councillor C Bulman (Chair) 

Page 4



    

 

 

 

             

        

 Cared for Children and Care Leavers 

Committee 

05 September 2023 

Cared for Children and Care Leaver 

Committee Annual Report 2022-23 

 

Report of: Deborah Woodcock, Executive Director of Children's 
Services 

Report Reference No: CF/03/23-24 

Ward(s) Affected: All 

 

Purpose of Report 

1 The Cared for Children and Care Leaver Committee Annual Report 
2022-23 (April 2022 – March 2023) at Appendix 1 sets out the work of 
the committee and progress against the Cared for Children and Care 
Leavers Strategy over the past year.  

2 This report supports the work of the committee in achieving the aim in 
the council’s Corporate Plan to ‘be the best corporate parents to our 
children in care.’ 

Executive Summary 

3 The Cared for Children and Care Leaver Committee Annual Report 
details the progress and achievements over 2022-23 against the six 
pledges the Council has made to cared for children and care leavers in 
the Cared for Children and Care Leavers Strategy. 

RECOMMENDATIONS 

The Cared for Children and Care Leaver Committee is recommended to:  

1. Endorse the Cared for Children and Care Leaver Committee Annual Report 

2022-23 as set out at Appendix 1. 

OPEN FOR PUBLICATION 
 

Page 5 Agenda Item 5



  
  

 

 

Background 

4 The Cared for Children and Care Leaver Committee was established in 
May 2016 as the Corporate Parenting Committee. The name of the 
committee was changed to the Cared for Children and Care Leaver 
Committee in February this year in response to feedback from care 
experienced children and young people. It is a cross-party advisory 
committee, comprised of twelve cross-party councillors. Councillors 
were appointed on a politically proportionate basis and nominated by 
the political groups.  

5 The purpose of the Cared for Children and Care Leaver Committee as 
an advisory committee to the Children and Families Committee is to 
ensure that the Council effectively discharges its role as corporate 
parent for all children and young people in care and care leavers from 
0-25 years of age and holds partners to account for the discharge of 
their responsibilities.   

6 The Cared for Children and Care Leaver Committee Annual Report 
2022-23 at Appendix 1 sets out the work of the committee and progress 
against the Cared for Children and Care Leavers Strategy over the past 
year (April 2022 – March 2023). 

Consultation and Engagement 

7 Key stakeholders, including cared for children and young people and 
care leavers, are regularly consulted on the work of the Cared for 
Children and Care Leaver Committee and Council and partner services. 
The six pledges within the Cared for Children and Care Leavers 
Strategy are based on what young people told us matters most to them.  

Reasons for Recommendations 

8 As an advisory committee to the Children and Families Committee, one 
of the roles of the Cared for Children and Care Leaver Committee is to 
act as advocate for cared for children and care leavers, ensuring that 
their needs are addressed through key plans, policies and strategies 
throughout the Council and its commissioned services. 

9 The terms of reference for the Cared for Children and Care Leaver 
Committee included within the constitution set out a requirement for the 
Cared for Children and Care Leaver Committee to report to the Children 
and Families Committee on at least an annual basis.  

Other Options Considered 

10 It could be decided that the Cared for Children and Care Leaver 
Committee no longer needs to produce an annual report, but the annual 
report provides an opportunity for the Children and Families Committee 

Page 6



  
  

 

 

to review the effectiveness of this advisory committee and the impact on 
outcomes for cared for children and care leavers.  

Option Impact Risk 

Do nothing The committee would not be 

sighted on progress against 

the Cared for Children and 

Care Leavers Strategy. This 

includes information on how 

services are supporting 

cared for children, young 

people and care-

experienced adults, and the 

committee would not be able 

to provide external scrutiny 

and evaluate if the service 

that is being delivered is 

effectively meeting children 

and young people’s needs.  

The council is not 

effectively discharging 

its role as corporate 

parent for all children 

and young people in 

care, and care leavers 

from 0-25 years of age.  

 

Partners would not be 

held to account for the 

discharge of their 

responsibilities. 

 

Children and young 

people’s needs are not 

being met. 

 

Implications and Comments 

Monitoring Officer/Legal 

11 There is a range of legislation and statutory guidance that sets out the 
role of the local authority in respect of cared for children and care 
leavers. There are statutory obligations and guidance in relation to the 
local authority’s role as corporate parent in the Children Acts 1989 and 
2004; the Children and Young People Act 2008; the Children and 
Families Act 2014; and the Children and Social Work Act 2017.  

12 In particular, the Children and Social Work Act 2017 defines, for the first 
time in law, the role of corporate parents, in addition to expanding and 
extending support for care leavers. 

Section 151 Officer/Finance 

13 There are no financial implications or changes required to the Medium 
Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) as a result of the recommendation in 
this report.  Services which support and deliver the Local Authority’s 
corporate parenting role will continue to work to ensure that they 
operate within the MTFS approved budgets.   

Page 7



  
  

 

 

14 Bringing children into the care of the local authority represents a 
significant cost for the Council, and growth in the MTFS has been 
approved in recent years based on the increasing levels of demand and 
complexity of need, as well as the priority of achieving appropriate 
outcomes. 

15 However, the childrens care budget continues to see financial pressures 
as demand and costs increase.  

Policy 

16 As a corporate parent, all Council policies should consider the impact 
on cared for children and care leavers.  

17 This report supports the following priority within the Corporate Plan: 

A council which 
empowers and cares 
about people 

Be the best Corporate 
Parents to our children in 
care 

 

Equality, Diversity and Inclusion 

18 All children and young people have a right to be treated equally and 
have their disability, gender, ethnic, cultural, religious, and linguistic 
needs met. As corporate parents for children and young people in care 
and care leavers, it is essential that the Council is able to demonstrate 
that it considers equality implications in all decisions made in relation to 
cared for children and care leavers. Cared for children and care leavers 
can be a vulnerable group because of their experiences so we need to 
ensure they are supported to achieve the same outcomes as their peers 
as they can experience disadvantages and are at risk of poorer 
outcomes. 

Human Resources 

19 The number of children in care and care leavers has implications for 
staffing, both within children’s social care and enabling services.  

Risk Management 

20 Cared for children and care leavers are a vulnerable group for whom 
there are a number of risks, including poor outcomes in education and 
training, health, safeguarding and transition into adulthood. The Cared 

Page 8



  
  

 

 

for Children and Care Leavers Strategy outlines plans to mitigate these 
risks.    

Rural Communities 

21 There are no direct implications for rural communities. 

Children and Young People including Cared for Children, care leavers and 
Children with special educational needs and disabilities (SEND) 

22 The Cared for Children and Care Leaver Committee Annual Report, 
aligned to the Cared for Children and Care Leavers Strategy, sets out 
implications for cared for children and young people and priorities for 
2022-23. 

Public Health 

23 Cared for children and care leavers are more at risk of poor health 
outcomes. Health services need to be targeted to ensure that they meet 
the needs of this group of children and young people.  

Climate Change 

24 There are no climate change implications.  

 

Access to Information 

Contact Officer: Annemarie Parker, Head of Service Cared for Children 
and Care Leavers 
Annemarie.Parker@cheshireeast.gov.uk  

Appendices: Appendix 1 - Cared for Children and Care Leaver 
Committee Annual Report 2022-23 

Background 
Papers: 

The Cared for Children and Care Leavers Strategy 
2022-26 and pledges can be found on the following 
link:https://www.cheshireeast.gov.uk/livewell/care-and-
support-for-children/services-from-childrens-social-
care/cared-for-children/cared-for-children.aspx  

  

Page 9

mailto:Annemarie.Parker@cheshireeast.gov.uk
https://www.cheshireeast.gov.uk/livewell/care-and-support-for-children/services-from-childrens-social-care/cared-for-children/cared-for-children.aspx
https://www.cheshireeast.gov.uk/livewell/care-and-support-for-children/services-from-childrens-social-care/cared-for-children/cared-for-children.aspx
https://www.cheshireeast.gov.uk/livewell/care-and-support-for-children/services-from-childrens-social-care/cared-for-children/cared-for-children.aspx


  
  

 

 

 

Page 10



 

 

0 

 

OFFICIAL 

 

 
 
 

Cared for Children and Care 

Leaver Committee 

Annual Report 
 

April 2022 – March 2023 
 

 

 

P
age 11



 

 

1 

 

OFFICIAL 

Contents 
 

Section Page 

Foreword 2 

The Cared for Children and Care Leaver Committee 3 

Cared for Children and Care Leavers Strategy and Pledges 4 

Cared for Children and Care Leavers Strategy Progress 

 Pledge One – We will care for our cared for children and care leavers as any good 

parent would 

 Pledge Two – We will improve education, employment, and training outcomes 

 Pledge Three – We will be truly aspirational to give all children and young people a 

forever home and to keep them safe 

 Pledge Four – We will improve health and wellbeing outcomes 

 Pledge Five – We will prepare young people for adulthood 

 Pledge Six - We will work TOGETHER with children and young people 
 

 

5 

 

7 

11 

14 

16 

20 

P
age 12



 

 

2 

 

OFFICIAL 

Foreword 
 

As elected members, we feel both privileged and challenged by 

our role as corporate parents. It is a huge responsibility to take on 

the welfare of other people’s children and I know that all those 

who sit on Children and Families Committee and on Cared For 

and Care Leavers Committee are grateful to our dedicated teams 

of officers and social workers. They are passionate about 

delivering the best possible childhood for our children. The six 

pledges, launched in June 2022, remain the core of our 

commitment to Cheshire East Council’s cared for and care 

leavers community. The role of the elected member is to be a 

critical friend to the professionals who work in children’s services, 

to support them in every way possible and to make those pledges 

to our children a reality.  

I think we all know what we want for our Cared for and Care 

Leaver children and young adults because  it is what we want for 

our own children. They need security and love and that depends 

on permanence.  This requires a coordinated effort not just from 

CEC’s children’s services, the Virtual School, the Family Hubs, 

the Housing department but also from our partners in the police 

and NHS.  Last year’s report referenced the ‘joint targeted area 

inspection’ which looked closely at children at risk of exploitation, 

and it was found that we needed to improve in some aspects of 

our partner working.  I am proud of the excellent work done since 

then and to have received a report that assures the council that 

we now have robust, efficient partner working practices that 

ensure the safety of our cared for children. Our journey of 

improvement goes on into next year and with regards to 

children’s safeguarding, we will always be vigilant. Committee 

members will continue to make regular ‘frontline visits’ to all areas 

of children’s services. 

One of the many challenges for children’s services is to train, 

attract and retain more social workers against the background of 

a national shortage.  We are also working energetically to 

encourage more foster carers to join the already amazing cohort 

in Cheshire East.  Our priorities do not change greatly from year 

to year because the needs remain the same. What does change 

is the way that our teams work to support each other in providing 

‘wrap around’ care to vulnerable children and young people who 

are care experienced.  They are constantly innovating to find 

even better ways to fulfil those 6 pledges.  Our ambitious strategy 

is outlined in Together for Children and Young People.  

 As a Committee, we celebrate the achievements of the past year 

and we are excited about the new projects and new ways of 

working which will benefit our Cared for and Care Leaver 

children. 

On a personal level, I feel it is a great privilege to sit on this 

Committee. As a retired teacher, I have enjoyed reconnecting 

with young people, making a podcast about free school meals 

with our highly articulate, well- informed volunteers to the Youth 

Parliament, chatting over a jigsaw puzzle at the My Voice Centre 

or visiting the brilliant Holiday Activities again. 

P
age 13



 

 

3 

 

OFFICIAL 

Cllr Carol Bulman, Chair Cared For and Care Leavers 

Committee.   July 2023. 

 

Councillor Carol Bulman, Chair of Cared for Children and Care Leavers 

Committee and Lead Member for Children and Families 

 

  

P
age 14



 

 

4 

 

OFFICIAL 

The Cared for Children and Care Leaver 

Committee 

Having the right values, beliefs and culture around prioritising and 

championing the needs of cared for children and young care-

experienced adults is essential to achieving excellent outcomes 

for children and young people. Our corporate parenting 

responsibility is a shared one that requires a high level of 

commitment from the leadership of the council, as well as the 

support and ambition of all council employees and partners. 
 

The name of the Corporate Parenting Committee has been 

changed to the Cared for Children and Care Leaver Committee in 

response to feedback from care experienced children and young 

people. This was agreed in the meeting on 10 January 2023 and 

endorsed by the Children and Families Committee in February. 
 

The purpose of the Cared for Children and Care Leaver 

Committee, in its role as an advisory committee to the Children 

and Families Committee, is to ensure that the council effectively 

discharges its role as corporate parent for all children and young 

people in care, and care leavers from 0-25 years of age, and 

holds partners to account for the discharge of their 

responsibilities. The terms of reference are included within the 

council’s constitution, and these are reviewed annually. 

 

The Cared for Children and Care Leaver Committee is comprised 

of twelve cross-party members, with council officers in 

attendance to support agenda items as required. The committee 

is administered by officers from democratic services. The 

committee has met on five occasions in 2022-23.  
 

In preparation for the discussion and challenge at committee, our 

Shadow Committee of young people meets in advance with the 

chair of the committee and the head of service for cared for 

children and care leavers to comment on the matters that are to 

be presented to committee. They share their lived experience of 

how services are designed and delivered and ultimately what it 

feels like to be a cared for child or care-experienced adult in 

Cheshire East. 
 

Officers and partners present information to the committee. This 

includes information on how services are supporting cared for 

children, young people and care-experienced adults, and 

provides feedback from external scrutiny, so that members can 

evaluate the service that is being delivered to ensure we are 

effectively meeting children and young people’s needs. 

Performance reporting and impact is scrutinised by the 

committee, along with issues and risks. 
 

The committee oversees the delivery of our Cared for Children 

and Care Leavers Strategy and the pledges that we made in 

June 2022. 

 

P
age 15

https://www.cheshireeast.gov.uk/council_and_democracy/your_council/constitution.aspx


 

 

5 

 

OFFICIAL 

Cared for Children and Care Leavers 

Strategy and Pledges 

The Cared for Children and Care Leavers Strategy 2022-26 

was co-produced with children and young people and launched in 

July 2022.  
 

 
 

The strategy sets out a number of pledges we are making to our 

cared for children and young people and those who are care 

experienced. These are based on what these children and young 

people have told us will make the most difference to their lives:  
 

 
 

Committee meetings during 2022-23 received quarterly 

performance reports alongside the Cared for Children and Care 

Leavers scorecard. Workstream groups aligned to the pledges are 

in place to ensure that the strategy is delivered effectively. 

 

Pledge One 

We will care for our cared for children and care leavers as any 

good parent would  

Pledge Two 

We will improve education, employment, and training outcomes  

Pledge Three 

We will be truly aspirational to give all children and young 

people a forever home and to keep them safe 

Pledge Four 

We will improve health and wellbeing outcomes  

Pledge Five 

We will prepare young people for adulthood 

Pledge Six 

We will work TOGETHER with children and young people 

 

P
age 16



 

 

6 

 

OFFICIAL 

Cared for Children and Care 

Leavers Strategy Progress 

Pledge One 

We will care for our cared for children and care 
leavers as any good parent would 

Staff and elected members will understand their 

responsibilities and be ambitious in their roles and they 

will advocate and champion the needs of cared for children 

and care leavers in everything they do. 

We will know ourselves and the needs of our cared for 

children and care leavers well, and design and deliver 

services that meet these needs. 

Decisions about children and young people’s lives, and the 

services that support them, will be made with them and for 

them. We will always value their views. 

Key achievements this year 
 

 The new Cared for Children and Care Leavers Strategy for 

2022-26 has been co-produced with children and young 

people based on what is most important to them. It sets out our 

ambitions as corporate parents and what actions we will take 

to continue to develop our support. 

 Our cared for children and care leavers told us that some of 

the language used in the previous strategy was too clinical and 

not meaningful to them. We therefore worked together to 

rename the new strategy. A new governance structure to 

deliver the strategy and actions is in place. 

 The name of the Corporate Parenting Committee was also 

changed to reflect children and young people’s wishes 

regarding the language we use. 

 Initial training around corporate parenting responsibilities and 

championing cared for children has been undertaken with 

councillors.  

 The timeliness of cared for children’s reviews continues to be 

good, this was 80% at the end of Quarter 4 (Q4) and 96% of 

children were involved in their reviews. 

 The views of children and young people were captured in 97% 

of all reviews completed in the year, with 60% of those aged 4 

years and over attending in person. It is important that children 

and young people are involved in their plan, and we are always 

looking at how we can develop and improve their participation. 

 Young people’s views inform service development. My Voice 

have been involved in a range of service development activity 

and frontline recruitment, and the views of cared for children, 

P
age 17



 

 

7 

 

OFFICIAL 

young people and care leavers are sought through a biannual 

survey. Youth Council are active members of the Children and 

Young People’s Trust.  

 There has been continued regional participation around 

understanding the needs and voice of care experienced young 

people and care leavers. 

 A care leavers diagnostic took place in October 2022 to 

evaluate the quality of support offered and areas for 

development. 46% of care leavers rated their support as being 

10 out of 10, with 80% rating a 7 or higher. 98% said they felt 

listened to by their Personal Advisor (PA).  

 Several activities for November Children’s Rights Month were 

run with the Participation 

Team and the Care Leavers’ 

service. This included young 

people ‘taking over’ part of 

the Children and Families 

Committee, as well taking 

over the role of the Director of 

Children’s Services for a day.  

 We have established a new role – Apprenticeship Coordinator 

– to support cared for young people and care leavers. 

 

Next steps 

 Continue to work with cared for children and care leavers to 

change the language we use.  

 Develop a directory of resources and support that is accessible 

for our young people and families.  

 Champion and progress towards becoming a fostering friendly 

authority.  

 Stabilise the workforce so that children and young people 

benefit from enduring relationships with their social worker. 

 Provide ongoing training and support to councillors, 

stakeholders and employees about being the best parents to 

our cared for children and care leavers.  

 Embed support for care leavers across whole council decision 

making. Cheshire East are considering making ‘care leaver’ a 

protected characteristic as recommended in the national 

review of children’s services.  

 Review our strategy on an annual basis to ensure progress is 

monitored and actions and priorities remain relevant. 

 Establish councillor frontline visits to cared for services, 

aligned to the cared for children and care leavers outcomes. 

 Work together to ensure that the right children become cared 

for and deliver our strategy on Creating a Sustainable Future 

for Children’s Social Care. 

P
age 18



 

 

8 

 

OFFICIAL 

 Regularly celebrate the achievements of our cared for children 

through events, such as the Star Awards and National Care 

Leaver Week, and ensure individual achievements, such as 

exam results and settling at a new home, are also celebrated. 

 

 

 

Pictured above: Cared for children and young people displayed their 

artwork at an art exhibition 

 
 
 

Pledge Two 

We will improve education, employment and 

training outcomes 

We will have high aspirations for every child and young 

person and will help them to achieve their ambitions, using 

opportunities in the ‘family business’ and our contacts so that 

they can be happy and successful in their education, training 

and employment. 

Every child and young person will have an education plan that 

is targeted to enable them to reach their full potential. 

We will strive to ensure that every child and young person will 

have access to consistent, high quality, well-matched, 

opportunities in education, training, and employment. 

opportunities. 

Key achievements this year 

 The Virtual School headteachers’ report for 2021-22 was 

presented in the November 2022 committee meeting, providing 

full details of the previous academic year with an outline of the 

impact and achievements of our children and young people. 

This is updated and published annually.  

 All cared for children have a designated Virtual School (VS) 

advisor who monitors and tracks each child and ensures timely 

P
age 19

http://moderngov.cheshireeast.gov.uk/ecminutes/documents/s98745/Virtual%20School%20Head%20Teachers%20Annual%20Report.pdf


 

 

9 

 

OFFICIAL 

support is in place for areas such as intervention, and challenge 

fixed term exclusions. 

 As of the end of Q4, 73% of cared for children were in good/ 

outstanding schools. 20% of schools are without an updated 

OFSTED rating due to academy conversion. Where children are 

placed in schools below good, this is often as a result of 

maintaining current school placements when children enter care 

to preserve relationships and links with home. Within these 

cases, the VS advisor will ensure robust support and oversight is 

in place, such as undertaking additional visits.  

 Robust live attendance tracking and a specialist attendance 

officer are in place to monitor daily attendance and offer timely 

support to children, schools and settings, parents/carers. 

 The number of 16-18-year-old young people in care who are not 

in education, employment or training (NEET) is low (12 in March 

2023). We have a dedicated 16 plus advisor within the VS, and 

this reflects the proactive work to keep our young people in 

education or support them into employment and training.  

 The post-16 team consists of a VS advisor, learning mentor and 

post-16 tutor, to track and monitor 16- and 17-year-old cared for 

children ensuring targeted support is in place, in particular for 

those at risk of becoming NEET. There is a bespoke offer for 

post-16 cared for children, including our ‘venture with confidence’ 

programme, to promote education, employment and training for 

young people. 

 We have also developed a partnership challenge panel where 

we will consider what support we can provide to our young 

people on an individual basis. Supporting clear intervention and 

actions to re-engage in education, employment and training.  

 Our ‘venture with confidence’ programme has enabled young 

people to re-engage with education, training and peer support. 

This continues to be planned for the 2023-2024 cohort. There 

have been 26 referrals over the two programmes, with 23 young 

people successfully completing the course, many securing 

places at college or work experience. This is a good way of 

engaging our young people and it is successful as a pathway to 

get young people involved in a range of activities and into 

education, employment, or training.  

 

Pictured above: One of our young people taking part in the ‘venture 

with confidence’ programme 

P
age 20



 

 

10 

 

OFFICIAL 

 We have three learning mentors offering support for social, 

emotional and mental health, and ensuring enhanced transition 

for children and young people for identified phases of education. 

 VS Deputy Headteacher in place to oversee further 

developments and to include extended duties. 

 Development of Personal Education Plans (PEPs) content to 

ensure more robust recording of pupil premium, SMART targets 

and measuring impact/outcomes. 

 VS designated training for all schools/settings: including 

workshops delivered by a range of multi-agency services. 

 The VS are supporting our children to have access to books and 

reading through funding Letterbox Trust parcels. This year we 

have had a specific focus on signing up all our children moving 

into Reception, Year 1 and Year 5 to receive the parcels to 

support them with their transition into their assessment years. 

 School-led tutoring funding has been fully used and allocated to 

pay for additional tutoring for cared for children. 

 The Virtual School Governing Board has been embedded to 

provide challenge, scrutiny and support, with representatives 

from across all key stakeholders including education, health, 

social care and foster carers. 

 The number of fixed term exclusions for our cared for children 

continues to be below both our statistical neighbours and North 

West recorded data. We have had no permanent exclusions of 

cared for children for over four years. 

 Primary exclusions continue to remain low with some areas of 

focus needed for fixed term exclusions within secondary, 

although in line with national figures. We are currently working 

with wider partners to continue to develop alternative strategies 

to exclusion. 

 73% of PEPs were judged ‘good’ after designated teacher 

training sessions. 

 21.3% of Cheshire East cared for children achieved a grade 4+ 

in English and Maths, compared to 22.1% nationally (data from 

the local authority interactive tool (LAIT). 32.7% of our cared for 

children achieved a grade 5+ in GCSE English. 

 93% of our Year 11 students in July 2022 had a clear pathway 

plan for post-16 study. 

 78.7% of Year 13 students were either in education, 

employment, or training. 

 In Year 14, seven students are enrolled on an apprenticeship 

course and four are attending higher education this year. 

 More cared for young people than ever are going to university as 

a result of our aspirational culture and joined up working. 

 The Virtual School has supported children to access recreational 

activities – supported with additional funding for swimming 

P
age 21



 

 

11 

 

OFFICIAL 

lessons, horse riding lessons, music lessons, performing arts 

and forest school. 

 We know that our increasing population of unaccompanied 

asylum-seeking children (UASC) are not always able to access 

English for Speakers of Other Languages (ESOL) courses as 

many colleges are full. Our Virtual School are providing creative 

ways of ensuring that these young people are receiving an 

education whilst they await a college place.  

 National Apprenticeship Week was celebrated in February 2023, 

and we used a variety of methods to increase apprenticeship 

awareness for our care leavers across the council. 

 

 

 

Next steps 

 Develop opportunities for apprenticeships within the council and 

local businesses. Offer support to care leavers in preparing for 

and undertaking apprenticeships from our Apprenticeship 

Coordinator. 

 Share success stories across the council and local community, 

promoting the benefits for all. 

 Continue to improve the completion rate and quality of PEPs 

across all years from early years to post-16. 

 Continue to provide support and interventions for schools and 

children to improve outcomes (narrow the gap and lost learning) 

and attendance, evaluating the impact of the intervention and 

use of pupil premium. 

 Strengthen children and young people’s voice to support the 

strategic development across all areas of the Virtual School. 

 Ensure that agencies providing opportunities for our children and 

young people are supported and equipped to understand and 

meet their needs. 

 Continue to implement a robust action plan to reduce NEET and 

encourage re-engagement opportunities for our care leavers.  

 

 

P
age 22



 

 

12 

 

OFFICIAL 

Pledge Three 

We will be truly aspirational to give all children and 

young people a forever home and to keep them safe 

We will strive to ensure that every child and young person will 

have the opportunity to live in a good, safe home locally, 

either with their family or in another long-term home. All 

decisions will be made and reviewed with them, without delay. 

We will respect those people who are important to our 

children and young people and make sure that these safe 

relationships are sustained. 

We will keep children and young people safe. 

Key achievements this year 

 We are constantly monitoring the numbers of cared for children 

and looking at ways to ensure that we are reviewing plans for 

children to achieve permanence at the earliest opportunity. 

 Dedicated resource for unaccompanied asylum-seeking 

children (UASC) – two social workers currently, which we are 

increasing to three, resulting in timely specialist support. 

 Care proceedings work has been transitioned into the cared for 

service, for earlier consideration of permanence options. 

 Discharge of care orders to ensure children rehabilitated home 

do not remain subject to court orders longer than necessary; 

this continues to increase, and practice is embedded.   

 Secured dedicated venues for family time, so families can 

access a venue that is close to where they live. Our dedicated 

Family Time Coordinator has kept children connected to their 

families. 

 Step down panel – all residential placements are agreed by the 

Director, ensuring only the right children are in residential care, 

including very exceptional use of unregistered arrangements 

and Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards (DoLS). We have 

developed a policy around the use of unregistered provision. 

This policy ensures that should such arrangements be 

necessary that there is robust senior management oversight.  

 Re-development of the resource and accommodation panel, 

chaired by the heads of service to ensure consistent 

management oversight, challenge and scrutiny of support for 

families, financial implications and ensuring robust planning 

and timescales around accomodation and resources.  

 We have continued developing sufficiency options including 

redeveloping our residential care offer and two Mockingbird 

constellations. Bespoke packages and edge of care support 

have enabled children to remain within their extended 

families/networks. 

P
age 23



 

 

13 

 

OFFICIAL 

 77% (Q4) of cared for children and young people are living 

within a 20-mile radius of their home address. Many of those 

placed furthest are living within their family networks or 

have/are achieving permanence. Arrangements for any child 

who lives at a distance are reviewed on a regular basis to 

ensure this remains appropriate. 

 We are continuing to work to reduce the number of children 

who live in residential care; this number does fluctuate due to 

their needs and the availability of foster placements. As of end 

of Q4 we had 43 individuals in either a Cheshire East or 

independent home, this is 19.3% compared to England at 16% 

and the Northwest at 14%. We remain committed to ensuring 

that children have the opportunity to live within a family 

wherever possible and continue to review children’s 

placements to see if there are alternatives. 

 We currently have 56 children (9.7%) placed with parents – 

this is a significant drop from 17% last year and much closer to 

latest available national picture of 7%, lower than the North 

West at 12%. This is consistent progress and demonstrates a 

commitment to exiting children’s lives when intervention is not 

required and ensuring children remain within their birth family 

where possible.  

 The number of children where care orders have been 

discharged is increasing; in total during 2022/23 we have 

discharged care orders for 20 children and there are several 

applications before the court. We have a designated legal 

advisor who is ensuring that discharges can be made quickly 

and effectively within the court arena.  

 A small but well-regarded Special Guardianship Order (SGO) 

team supports an increasing number of children/families where 

permanence is achieved through the making of this order. 

 We have improved communication and engagement with 

foster carers – regular newsletters, forums, surveys and 

attendance at gatherings. Foster carers are also involved in 

service developments. There has been the development of a 

specific fostering Facebook page and increased social media 

presence. 

 

 We have engaged in sector-led improvement around fostering 

which is proving to be beneficial, and we are also working 

towards recognition as a ‘fostering friendly’ organisation. 

P
age 24



 

 

14 

 

OFFICIAL 

 Q4 data shows an increase in children placed with in-house 

foster carers (122 in Q4 compared to 117 in Q3). The number 

of children placed with connected carers remains relatively 

consistent. This means that children are living with someone 

they have an existing relationship with. There are plans in 

place to increase recruitment of foster carers, which will mean 

that we can place more of our children with Cheshire East 

foster carers. 

 We remain ambitious for securing adoption for children – 11 

children have been adopted so far this year, and another 19 

are living in their adoption placements. We also have three 

children who are placed in foster to adopt placements.  

  

 

 

Next steps 

 Continue our focus on achieving consistently good quality 

assessments and plans. 

 Placement stability for cared for children still needs to improve, 

however in Q4 we have seen some improvement in this. We 

know that due to a shortage of foster placements, some 

children experience several moves. A new Head of Service for 

P
age 25



 

 

15 

 

OFFICIAL 

Provider Services commenced employment in January 2023 

and is working to develop the service to improve stability for 

children. 

 Develop our in-house residential provision and continue to 

increase the number of foster carers to improve opportunities 

for children and young people to live closer to home.  

 Improve concurrent and early permanence planning through 

the Resource and Accommodation Panel (RAPP). Utilise this 

as a forum for senior leaders to support the service to achieve 

permanence plans and ensure progress is reviewed regularly. 

Clear actions to be set to hold the service to account. 

 Build upon family networking meetings and inclusion of 

families and reduce the number of children needing to enter 

court and/or remain within care. 

 Further strengthen our communication and engagement with 

foster carers and involve them in service development.  

 Secure family-based living for cared for disabled children – we 

are working to expand our number of in-house short break and 

specialist foster carers through a targeted recruitment 

campaign. 

 Continue to ensure that cared for children and young people 

can live in good, safe homes locally, as early as possible.  

 Development of the No Wrong Door model principles within 

Cheshire East which will provide support to young people who 

are within or on the edge of the care system. 

 Increase support to cases where there is a possibility of 

adoption disruption.  

 Review and enhance the offer for special guardianship, 

considering bespoke support offers. 

 Improve our decision making regarding Special Guardianship 

Orders (SGOs). Develop a clear process and policy around 

entitlements and support for SGO’s. 

 We will ensure children and young people have opportunities 

to stay connected to their families and friends in the least 

restrictive way possible. 

 

 

 
Pledge Four 

We will improve health and wellbeing outcomes 

We are committed to understanding the health needs of our 

children and young people as early as possible and to ensure 

they are given the highest priority in every service. 

P
age 26



 

 

16 

 

OFFICIAL 

We will ensure that practitioners understand and meet the 

diverse health needs of our children and young people, 

including those with health inequalities faced by race, 

ethnicity, ability and disability and unaccompanied asylum-

seeking children. 

We have ambition to ensure that we further improve 

responses to children and young people in relation to having 

their health needs met. 

We will equip our children and young people to have high 

aspirations for their own health and wellbeing. 

Key achievements this year 

 Health colleagues have access to the case record system to 

improve the timeliness of health assessments. They will 

automatically be notified when a child enters care.  

 

 There is a good emotional wellbeing offer through Pure Insight, 

which is supporting over 300 young people. 

 100% of young people that consent to a health passport have 

received one by their 18th birthday. Work has been undertaken 

to strengthen the understanding of health passports and 

consent with young people. 

 Most initial health assessments are being requested within 48 

hours of children entering care. Overall, for the year, 76% were 

requested within timescales and 59% were completed within 

timescales.  

 We know that our increase of unaccompanied asylum-seeking 

children (UASC) cared for children has resulted in some delays 

because of additional complexities such as ensuring an 

interpreter is present. An additional increase in children coming 

into care has also added to the complexity and impacted 

timeliness; in 2021-22 157 children entered care, this number 

increased to 218 in 2022-23. 

 The percentage of children who had their annual health 

assessment was 89.3%; this is an improvement on last year’s 

figure of 80% and in line with the England average of 89%. 

The figure is slightly higher than our statistical neighbours’ 

average of 86%. 

 96.6% of children aged five and under had their developmental 

checks completed within timescales. 

 92.6% of routine childhood immunisations were completed.  

 Our dedicated emotional wellbeing service delivers support for 

young people and their carers. 

 74.5% of children had their teeth checked by a dentist, this is a 

significant improvement on last year’s figure of 51%. The NHS 

England dental referral scheme across Cheshire and 

P
age 27



 

 

17 

 

OFFICIAL 

Merseyside provides an opportunity for all our children and 

young people to access a dentist more easily. The scheme will 

continue for 2023/24, and children who are struggling to 

access a dentist locally can be referred in for emergency 

treatment or a routine dental examination. 

Next steps 

 More children and young people have seen a dentist than is 

recorded on our system. We are building into children’s 

reviews a mandatory question to increase the accuracy of the 

data. 

 Continue to promote the NHS England dental referral 

programme to ensure cared for children have access to timely 

dental health services. 

 Raise awareness across our workforce and promote and 

monitor access to a range of services and agencies available 

to support the health needs of our children and young people. 

 Track and monitor the health needs of our children and young 

people, including those who are currently living outside of 

Cheshire East, ensuring their needs are met. 

 Support children and young people in care to have improving 

emotional mental health and wellbeing.  

 We will ensure cared for children and care leavers have their 

health assessed in a timely way and that assessments are of a 

good quality and used to inform the care plan. 

 Improve access and timeliness of full health-screening for all 

UASC. 

 Develop an effective tool that can be used to measure health 

outcomes for cared for children.  

 We will support timely and effective transitions from children’s 

services to adult services. 

 

 

 

Pledge Five 

We will prepare young people for adulthood 

P
age 28



 

 

18 

 

OFFICIAL 

We will support young people early with the skills needed to 

prepare for their future through access to a range of good quality 

services. 

 We will be a consistent guide for our young people. We will 

celebrate their successes and support them when things 

don’t go well. 

We will respect our care leavers as young adults and adapt 

our relationships to their needs. 

Key achievements this year 

 We are currently working with 315 young people in the care 

leavers service, of whom just over 30 are open to us formally 

under the 21+ offer. A further 140 young adults know that they 

can also access support and advice from us at any time via 

this provision, and an additional 71 cared for children are 

supported jointly via a social worker and PA to prepare for 

adulthood.  

 Connections between the cared for and care leavers service 

have improved, resulting in better preparation for adulthood.  

 The local offer has been reviewed together with our care 

leavers and we will be using their feedback to enhance our 

offer further. 

 We have a strong financial offer for care leavers, including a 

£2,500 setting-up grant, dedicated financial support for young 

people at university, financial support while young people wait 

to receive Universal Credit, and financial incentives for those 

who are not ready for work but can volunteer. This will 

increase this year due to national guidance for young people 

turning 18 years after April 2023.  

 At the end of Q4, 20 young adults aged 21 and over have been 

allocated personal advisors (PAs).  

 The monthly Ignition Panel helps young people make informed 

choices about where they might live in the future. All 16-year-

olds are now considered at Ignition to strengthen early 

planning and support for independence.  

 75 young people are residing in independent living.  

 The successful tenancy ready course has an average of two 

young people per month completing to secure their B status. 

 The number of ignition taster flats has increased from 14 to 16 

to support young people to be tenancy ready.  

 Two 16+ flats have been commissioned to offer short break or 

shared care independence living experiences to young people 

transitioning to adult services. We have submitted a short 

break innovation bid to the Department for Education (DfE) to 

secure two additional flats. 

P
age 29

https://www.cheshireeast.gov.uk/livewell/care-and-support-for-children/services-from-childrens-social-care/local-offer-for-care-leavers.aspx


 

 

19 

 

OFFICIAL 

 We are in touch with 98.5% of care leavers aged 19-21 

compared to 97% last year. The average for England and for 

our statistical neighbours is 92%. In the North West it is 95%. 

 The Care Leavers Survey found that 46% of care leavers rated 

their support as being 10 out of 10 (on a scale of 1-10 where 

10 is very good). 80% rated it as 7 or higher. 98% said they felt 

listened to by their PA.  

 One care leaver gave the following feedback about their PA: 

“He is very lovely to talk to, he makes me laugh all the time 

and I am not scared to talk to him or ask for his help.” 

 There are good links in place with local Department of Work 

and Pensions (DWP) centres. A reduction in benefit sanctions 

has been seen in the past 12 months.  

 Effective mentoring and wellbeing support, including support 

for young parents, is in place through Pure Insight which 

supports over 300 young people. Provision increased in April 

2022 ensuring no young person was on a waiting list. 

Feedback from young people on the support is overwhelmingly 

positive.  

 Q4 data shows that 97% of care leavers aged 19-21 are in 

appropriate accommodation compared to 88% nationally (in 

the Northwest this rate is 90%, and for our statistical 

neighbours it is 88%). The rate is not 100% because we have 

a small number of young people who are in prison, and this is 

never recorded as being appropriate. This is currently less 

than five and as such the number is suppressed in line with 

DfE guidelines. Nationally the latest available data reported 

88% of care leavers as being in suitable accommodation with 

3% being in custody. The other main reasons for 

accommodation being classed as unsuitable is emergency 

accommodation or homelessness. We monitor our use of 

emergency accommodation alongside housing colleagues; our 

use of emergency accommodation is minimal.  

 As of the end of Q4, 93% of care leavers had up-to-date 

pathway plans. Pathway plan reviews have now transferred to 

the safeguarding service to ensure that they are reviewed in a 

timelier way and to allow for external scrutiny. We have 

recently been working with Stockport Council and have 

engaged in some sector-led improvement work around our 

care leavers. This work has been beneficial, and we have 

implemented some ideas to ensure that our care leavers have 

the very best opportunities. 

 55.4% of our 19 to 21-year-olds are in education, employment 

or training (EET), in line with the national picture. Our latest 

‘venture with confidence’ course for young people who have 

experienced specific difficulties in accessing work or training 

has been a great success. We continue to be aspirational that 

the course and support from our apprenticeship coordinator 

will increase the number of 19- to 21-year-olds in EET over the 

next year. 

P
age 30



 

 

20 

 

OFFICIAL 

 We have strengthened our practice in relation to 16 and 17-

year-old homeless young people and updated the 16/17-Year-

Old Homeless Joint Working Protocol.  

 

 

 

  

P
age 31



 

 

21 

 

OFFICIAL 

Next steps 

 Enhance our local offer in line with feedback from care leavers, 

including support around the cost of living. 

 Explore developing an app for the local offer to support 

improved communication and meaningful ways of keeping in 

touch, offer digital peer support groups, and gain young 

people’s feedback.  

 Communicate with children and young people what our 

relationship and contact with them will look like, so they 

understand what to expect and know how to raise any worries 

they have around this. 

 Understand how children and young people want us to 

communicate with them and look at ways to develop our digital 

offer in line with their views.  

 Publish and publicise the care leaver offer in accessible ways, 

in line with statutory guidance. Ensure that care leavers know 

what they are legally entitled to and are helped to access 

support after they leave care. Review the care leaver offer in 

partnership with care leavers when there is an annual review. 

 Ensure that all children in care and care leavers know how to 

make a complaint and have access to advocacy services. 

 Allocate cared for children a PA as close to age 16 as 

possible, in line with statutory guidance. 

 Involve children in care and care leavers in developing their 

plans for after care. Plans should take account of young 

people’s wishes and concerns, when possible, including those 

related to feeling safe, where young people want to live, and 

what they want to do with their future. 

 In order to increase the range of unaccompanied asylum-

seeking children (UASC) accommodation within the Cheshire 

East boundary, we will be tendering for regulated 16+ 

accommodation in summer/autumn 2023. 

 

 

Pictured above: here’s a great photo of some of the young UASC we’ve 

supported, photographed with the Mayor at last year’s Star Awards 

P
age 32



 

 

22 

 

OFFICIAL 

 Celebrate the achievements of our care leavers, during 

National Care Leavers Week. 

 Ensure care leavers are supported to make decisions that 

affect their lives e.g., housing, jobs, etc. 

 Embed family networking and safety planning to reduce 16/17-

year-old homelessness and support young people to return to 

live at home sooner.  

 Ensure that care leavers who become parents are well 

supported and have prioritisation of access to services. 

 Make links with providers around bespoke accommodation 

provision for young people to provide more choices outside of 

Crewe. 

 We have been successful in a bid to the DfE for Staying Close 

funding and will be developing our project plan to ensure 

young people leaving residential care have bespoke 

accomodation and care support.  

. 

 

 

 

 

Pledge Six 

We will work TOGETHER with children and young 
people 

 We will work TOGETHER with children and young people in 

all that we do. 

We will work to make sure that participation is at the heart of 

everything that our staff, partners, and elected members do. 

Cared for children and care leavers will be empowered to make 

decisions that affect their lives. 

Key achievements this year 

 We have continued to deliver on our TOGETHER vision – 

children, young people and parents/carers are actively 

involved in shaping services and support for cared for children 

and care leavers. A number of our key strategies have been 

coproduced with children and young people, including our 

Children and Young People’s Plan, Cared for Children and 

Care Leavers Strategy and Participation Strategy. 

 Children and young people have told us that the most 

important thing we can do is listen to them and take what they 

say seriously. We have developed an additional pledge in the 

Cared for Children and Care Leavers Strategy to focus solely 

P
age 33

https://www.cheshireeast.gov.uk/livewell/care-and-support-for-children/working-in-partnership/childrens-trust/childrens-trust.aspx


 

 

23 

 

OFFICIAL 

on participation (working together with children and young 

people) to ensure that children and young people are always at 

the heart of everything we do and are involved in the decisions 

that affect their lives. 

 My VOICE (Voices of in Care Experience) have been involved 

in a range of projects including: 

- co-producing our new Cared for Children and Care Leavers 

Strategy and pledges to cared for children and care leavers 

- making cards for all our cared for children to celebrate 

International Care Day 2022 

- an art exhibition sharing experiences of being cared for 

- developing a ‘coming into care’ guide 

- being involved in recruitment and selection of new staff 

- taking part in ‘Take Over Days’ with the Executive Director 

of Children’s Services and the Participation Team 

- celebrating cared for children’s achievements through our 

annual STAR awards and November Take Over 

- attending the Shadow Cared for Children and Care Leavers 

Committee 

- attending and being a part of Cared4NorthWest (the 

regional Children in Care Council) 

- the recommission of the Emotionally Healthy Children and 

Young People’s Service 

 Cared for children delivered a reading at the Queen’s Platinum 

Jubilee Service at Chester Cathedral in June 2022. This 

opportunity was ringfenced to cared for children, again 

demonstrating Cheshire East’s commitment to corporate 

parenting. One young person who took part felt that the 

experience would help strengthen their future prospects, such 

as employment and university applications.  

 

 Care experienced young people were involved in recruitment 

for the roles of Head of Service for Provider Services and 

Head of Service for Safeguarding, as well as positions within 

the Virtual School. Their insight, professionalism and probing 

questions were impressive. Involving cared for children and 

care leavers ensures that there is a balanced view, and this 

helps to strengthen relationships with professionals. It also 

helps them to gain transferable skills such as interview 

preparation, empowerment, and communication. 

P
age 34



 

 

24 

 

OFFICIAL 

 Care leavers attended full council to speak about why the 

pledges of the strategy are important. Full council adopted the 

pledges, voted unanimously and demonstrated their 

commitment to corporate parenting. 

 

 Care leavers were involved in developing a training resource 

for professionals working with care experienced children and 

young people who have experience of domestic violence and 

domestic abuse. Training that is co-produced by young people 

ensures that it is shaped by their lived experiences.  

 Cared for children attended and helped to plan Table Turners, 

an event aimed at having open discussions and offering 

recommendations to decision makers about issues connected 

to health and wellbeing. 

 Children and young people have worked to improve the 

language that is used across services for cared for children 

and care leavers. This includes changing the name of the 

strategy and committee from “Corporate Parenting 

Strategy/Committee” to “Cared for Children and Care Leavers 

Strategy/Committee”. Care leavers presented these 

recommendations at committee in November 2022. 

Next steps 

 Continue to work together with children and young people to 

enable children to participate in a meaningful way to develop 

our services and inform practice. 

 Embed the TOGETHER approach with our children and young 

people, making sure that all staff, partners, and elected 

members are working to listen to and act on what children and 

young people tell us. 

 Increase the range of opportunities and the number of children 

and young people engaging in activities in ways that are 

helpful to them. 

P
age 35



 

 

25 

 

OFFICIAL 

 Ensure there are opportunities for senior managers and 

councillors to hear direct from children and young people about 

their experiences and ideas. 

 Following the annual survey of cared for children and care 

leavers, all services to evidence actions based on 

recommendations by children and young people. 

 Ensure that children and young people are involved in the 

recruitment of all key posts in Children’s Services. 

 Ensure that the child’s voice and their lived experience is 

evident in decision making when commissioning services. 

 Improve and develop the language we use when working with 

and writing about our cared for children and young people, 

“writing to the child”. 

 

 

 P
age 36



 

OFFICIAL OFFICIAL-SENSITIVE 

 

 

Corporate Parenting Committee 
 
Date of Meeting: 

 
05 September 2023 

 
Report Title: 

 
Corporate Parenting Q1 score card 2023/24 

 
Report of: 

 
Deborah Woodcock, Executive Director of Children’s 
Services 
 

 
Ward(s) Affected: 
 

 
All Wards 

 

1. Purpose of Report 

1.1. This report sets out the performance for corporate parenting for quarter 1 of 

2023-24 (1 April 2023 – 31 June 2023).  The cared for children and care 

leavers committee is asked to note the performance for quarter 1 and to 

provide support and challenge in relation to performance in relation to cared 

for children and care leavers. 

2. Executive Summary 

2.1 This report provides an overview of quarter 1 performance for children and 

families services for the relevant indicators for the reporting year of 2023-24   

3. Recommendations 

3.1.     The Cared for Children and Care Leavers Committee is asked to: 

3.2 note the performance of children’s services for quarter 1. 

 

3.3 provide scrutiny in relation to performance in relation to cared for children 

and care leavers. 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 37 Agenda Item 6



 

OFFICIAL OFFICIAL-SENSITIVE 

4. Reasons for Recommendations 

4.1. One of the key areas of focus for the cared for children and care leavers 

committee is to review performance and scrutinise the effectiveness of 

services for cared for children and young people and care leavers. 

5. Other Options Considered 

5.1. Not applicable 

6. Background 

6.1. This quarterly report provides the committee with an overview of 

performance across cared for children and care leaver’s service. This report 

relates to quarter 1 of 2023-24 (1 April 2023 – 31 June 2023).  

6.2. The following indicators have been highlighted for consideration 

7. Briefing information 

 

7.1 Cheshire East Council were responsible for 576 cared for children at the 

end of quarter 1.  This is a decrease from 580 at the end of quarter 4. The 

cared for children population changes daily as children enter and leave 

care. Children cease to be cared for due to several reasons, these include 

turning 18, returning to their birth family, adoption, and special 

guardianship. The latest comparable data we have across the region shows 

that Cheshire East’s rate is slightly above the national average of 70 per 

10,000 and is above that of 60 for statistical neighbours.  

 

7.2 Some of the increase in cared for children relates to unaccompanied 

asylum-seeking children (UASC) becoming cared for. In Q4 we had 57 

UASC in Cheshire East, in Q1 this decreased to 55.  We have seen an 

increase in young people who have been placed in hotels by the Home 

Office, who subsequently challenge their age and are then accommodated 

if they are assessed as being under 18. We know that regionally as a local 

authority, we are the 3rd highest in terms of our UASC numbers.  We are 

constantly monitoring the numbers of cared for children and looking at ways 

to ensure that we are reviewing plans for children to achieve permanence 

at the earliest opportunity. Positively, the number of children where care 

orders have been discharged is increasing; in total during 2022/23 we 

discharged care orders for 20 children. This year we are continuing to make 

positive progress and the teams are working hard to ensure that where 

possible children have a plan of permanence where they do not remain 

Cared For unless this is absolutely necessary.  We have several 

applications currently before the court so we are hopeful that this positive 

progress will continue. The progress we are making represents consistent 

progress and demonstrates a commitment to not intervening in children’s 

lives when this is not necessary.  

 

 

Page 38



 

OFFICIAL OFFICIAL-SENSITIVE 

7.3 At the time of writing this report, the cared for service has 11 permanent 

social work vacancies out of an establishment of 24. These vacancies are 

filled with agency social workers. We are beginning to see applications from 

some agency staff to move to permanent positions within the authority. 

Locally and nationally social work recruitment is a challenge. In 2022, 5400 

social workers left the profession, this is an increase of 9% from the 

previous year.  Work is being undertaken with HR colleagues to consider 

how we retain our existing workforce and how we recruit experienced social 

workers. They are looking at neighbouring authorities to ensure that the 

Cheshire East offer is attractive and competitive. We are also increasing 

our workforce through additional ‘grow your own’ methods such as offering 

social work apprenticeships and student placements.  
 

 

7.4 The timeliness of cared for children’s reviews continues to be good, in Q4, 

this was at 73% and in Q1 this has improved to 83%. We know that most 

reviews were re-scheduled within a few days and were therefore only 

marginally out of timescale. 96% of children were involved in their reviews. 

It is important that children and young people are involved in their plan, and 

we are always looking at how we can develop and improve their 

participation.  

 

7.5 Positively, Q1 data shows an increase in children placed with in-house 

foster carers (124 in Q1 compared to 122 in Q4). The number of children 

placed with connected carers remains relatively consistent.  This means 

that children are living with someone they have an existing relationship 

with.  There are plans in place to increase recruitment of foster carers, 

which will mean that we can place more of our children with Cheshire East 

foster carers. Generally, we want children to remain local and within 

Cheshire East where possible. For some children, they may live out of the 

area because they need a specialist placement, or they want to be close to 

birth family who have moved away. Arrangements for any child who lives at 

a distance are reviewed on a regular basis to ensure this remains 

appropriate.   

 

 

7.6 We continue to work hard to reduce the number of children in residential 

care, however the number of children living in residential care is increasing. 

This is not because these children have been assessed as requiring 

residential care but because of the lack of available foster placements. In 

Q3, the number of children living in residential care was 43, in Q1 this has 

increased to 47.  We remain committed to ensuring that children have the 

opportunity of living within a family wherever possible and continue to 

review children’s placements to see if there are alternatives. We are 

currently looking at how we can increase our in-house residential provision 

thus reducing the need to use unregistered provisions for our children and 

Page 39



 

OFFICIAL OFFICIAL-SENSITIVE 

young people in the future. There are proposals to open 3 Cheshire East 

children’s homes by the end of the year.  

 

7.7 The Head of Service for Children’s Provision which includes Fostering and 

Residential services chairs a weekly meeting- Triple S. This weekly panel 

provides scrutiny and oversight of children’s placements, particularly those 

who are living in residential care.  

 

7.8 The number of adoptions continues to slowly increase with 11 children 

adopted in 2022/23. So far this year we have 10 children adopted with 

another 19 children living in their adoption placements. This means that we 

are likely to significantly improve the number of children adopted this year 

compared to last year.  

 

7.9 We continue to work hard to ensure that children have the benefits of 

placement stability. In Q1 this was at 71% which is a slight improvement 

from Q4 at 70%. We know that due to a shortage of foster placements, 

some children experience several moves. A new Head of Service for 

Provider Services commenced employment in January 2023 and is working 

to develop the service to improve stability for children. We have also 

developed a permanence tracker which is assisting in monitoring and 

driving forward children’s plans.  

 

7.10 Positively the number of children who live out of Borough is reducing. In Q1 

this was at 248 compared to 257 in Q4. This number varies according to 

placement availability and matching but it is positive that more children are 

placed within Cheshire East.  

 

 

7.11 The number of 16 to 18-year-old young people who are not in education, 

employment or training (NEET) is low. We have a dedicated 16 plus 

advisor within the virtual school, and this reflects the proactive work to keep 

our young people in education or support them into employment and 

training.  

 

7.12 The Q1 NEET data for our 19 to 21-year-old young people shows that 46% 

of this cohort are not engaged in education, employment, or training. The 

national average for 2020/21 was 38% with statistical neighbours being 

37%. Comparative data for 22/23 is not yet available. However, in a recent 

meeting with Ofsted they confirmed that the national average for NEET 

exceeded 40%. We are looking closely at this data and the circumstances 

for these young adults which include pregnancy, parenting or illness, but 

are not exclusive to this. We know that our increasing population of UASC 

young people are not always able to access ESOL courses as many 

colleges are full. Our Virtual School are providing creative ways of ensuring 

that these young people are receiving an education whilst they await a 

Page 40



 

OFFICIAL OFFICIAL-SENSITIVE 

college place.  We have also developed a NEET challenge panel where we 

will consider what support we can provide to our young people on an 

individual basis. Within the Staying Close project there will also be a 

dedicated education worker, which will also greatly assist in terms of 

support our care leavers to access education and employment.  

 

 

7.13 The NEET programme is underway and is being well attended. This is a 

good way of engaging our young people and it is successful as a pathway 

to get young people involved in a range of activities and into education, 

employment, or training. The funding from the DFE for Staying Close 

project will enable us to consider if this course can be run on a continual 

basis rather than twice per year.  This is in recognition that previous NEET 

programmes have seen real successes for our young people. 

 

7.14 Q1 data shows that 79% of Cared For Children had a health assessment 

within the last 12 months. We have recently met with health colleagues to 

consider what we can do to ensure that this number improves and new 

systems with key points of contact have been agreed. We are hoping that 

the data now improves to demonstrate that Cared For children have an up-

to-date health assessment.  

 

 

7.15 Q1 data shows a decrease in children seeing a dentist from 70% in Q4 to 

62% in Q1. We are working to try and look at how we capture this data as 

we believe these figures are not a true representation and hope to see 

further improvement in Q2. Where foster carers are struggling to find 

children a dentist, this issue is being escalated to health and a dentist will 

be identified. There is an identified Pathway for escalation of such issues 

within Cheshire and Merseyside.  

 

 

7.16 Q1 data shows that 97% of our care leavers are in appropriate 

accommodation. This is not 100% because we have a small number of 

young people who are in prison, and this is never recorded as being 

appropriate. This is currently less than five and as such the number is 

supressed in line with DfE guidelines. Nationally the latest available data 

reported 88% of care leavers in suitable accommodation with 3% being in 

custody; the other main reasons for accommodation being classed as 

unsuitable is emergency accommodation or homelessness.  

 

7.17 69% of care leavers have up-to-date pathway plans and 77% of care 

leavers had their plans reviewed within timescales. Pathway Plan reviews 

have now transferred to the safeguarding service to ensure that our care 

leavers have their pathway plans reviewed in a timelier way and to allow for 

external scrutiny. We have recently been working with Stockport and have 

Page 41



 

OFFICIAL OFFICIAL-SENSITIVE 

engaged in some sector lead improvement work around our Care Leavers. 

This work has been beneficial, and we have implemented some ideas to 

ensure that our care leavers have the very best opportunities.  

 

8. Consultation and Engagement 

8.1. Not applicable. 

9. Implications 

10. Legal 

 

10.1. There are no direct legal implications. 

11.  Finance 

 

11.1 There are no direct financial implications or changes to the MTFS because 

of this briefing paper.  

 

11.2 Policy 

 

12.1 There are no direct policy implications. 

 

12. Equality 

 

13.1 Members may want to use the information from the performance indicators 

to ensure that services are targeted at more vulnerable children and young 

people. 

 

13. Human Resources 

 

14.1 There are no direct human resources implications. 

 

14. Risk Management 

 

15.1 There are risks associated with some performance measures, e.g. increases 

in demand and timeliness of services. 

 

15. Rural Communities 

 

16.1 There are no direct implications for rural communities. 

 

16. Children and Young People/Cared for Children 

 

17.1 Performance reports enable members to identify areas of good performance 

and areas for improvement in relation to children and young people, 

including cared for children. 

 

Page 42



 

OFFICIAL OFFICIAL-SENSITIVE 

17. Public Health 

 

18.1 There are no direct implications for public health. 

 

18. Climate Change 

 

19.1 This report does not impact on climate change. 

 

Access to Information 
 

Contact Officer: Annemarie Parker 
 

Appendices: Corporate Parenting Score Card Q1 

Background Papers: None 

  

 

Page 43



This page is intentionally left blank



Priority Indicator Indicator name

22/23 

outturn Q2 22/23 Q3 22/23 Q4 22/23 Q1 23/24

23/24    

outturn

Benchmark 

National 

(most recent 

available)

Benchmark 

Stat N'bour 

(most recent 

available)

Corporate 

Plan Aim Acronym Notes

G1 Number of cared for children 580 540 557 580 576 Fair

G2 Rate per 10,000 cared for children 74 69 71 74 74 70 60 Fair 2021/22 comparitors updated

G3 Number of care leavers (aged 16-21) 292 302 325 359 Fair

1.1

% cared for children reviews in timescales

73% 93% 82% 73% 83% Fair

1.2

% of children and young people involved in their reviews

96% 95% 92% 96% 96% Fair

2.1

Number of 16-18 year olds in care that are NEET 

(monthly) 14 14 14 15 Fair

NEET - Not in Education, 

Employment or Training

NEET - Not in Education, Employment or 

Training

2.2

Number of 16-18 year old care leavers that are NEET
0 0 13 14 Fair

NEET - Not in Education, 

Employment or Training

NEET - Not in Education, Employment or 

Training

2.3

Number of care leavers accessing higher education 

(University) 20 19 18 20 Fair

2.4

Number of Cheshire East care leavers in apprenticeships 

(18+) 6 10 8 8 Fair

2.5

% 19-21 year care leavers that are NEET (as per national 

reporting)
44% NEET at 

birthday 46% 48% 44% 46%

38% NEET at 

birthday

37% NEET at 

birthday Fair

NEET - Not in Education, 

Employment or Training.   

2021/22 comparitors updated.  

Whereas the quarterly collection is the 

yp status at the end of the qtr, The DfE 

comparitor figures relate the each yp 

status around the time of their birthday 

during the collection year.

3.1 Number of cared for children in external foster care 130 139 138 130 Fair

3.2
Number of cared for children in internal foster care

130 117 122 124 Fair

3.3

Number of children in care living with relatives and 

friends (inc reg 24) 99 109 105 109 Fair
Reg 24 -Regulation 24

3.4
Number of children placed with parents 

54 44 45 41 Fair

3.5
Number of children and young people in residential care

30 36 43 47 Fair

P
ri

o
ri

ty
 1

 -
 W

e 
w

ill
 c

ar
e 

fo
r 

o
u

r 
C

h
ild

re
n

 a
n

d
 Y

o
u

n
g 

P
eo

p
le

 a
s 

an
y 

go
o

d
 p

ar
en

t 

w
o

u
ld

P
ri

o
ri

ty
 2

 -
 Im

p
ro

ve
d

 E
d

u
ca

ti
o

n
, E

m
p

lo
ym

en
t 

an
d

 T
ra

in
in

g 
o

u
tc

o
m

es
P

ri
o

ri
ty

 3
 -

 W
e 

w
ill

 w
o

rk
 t

o
 g

iv
e 

al
l c

h
ild

re
n

 a
n

d
 y

o
u

n
g 

p
eo

p
le

 a
 f

o
re

ve
r 

h
o

m
e 

an
d

 k
ee

p
 t

h
em

 s
af

e
June 2023 - Cared for and Care Leavers Scorecard  - This contains a rolling 4 quarters for comparison

Notes: The boxes that are grayed out are where national data is not applicable or data isn't available.

Notes: Rates are calculated using the 2020 ONS mid year population estimate 0-17 of 78,068 (Office of National Statistics) and are calculated as a rate per 10,000 children aged 0-17. This enables the local authority to be compared on a like for like basis with different local 

authorities or groups of authorities. 

Notes: The column highlighted in blue reflects the most recent quarter being reported on 

G
en

er
al

OFFICIAL-SENSITIVE

# OFFICIAL

P
age 45



Priority Indicator Indicator name

22/23 

outturn Q2 22/23 Q3 22/23 Q4 22/23 Q1 23/24

23/24    

outturn

Benchmark 

National 

(most recent 

available)

Benchmark 

Stat N'bour 

(most recent 

available)

Corporate 

Plan Aim Acronym Notes

G
en

er
al

3.6

Number of individuals with 3 or more placements 

(rolling 12mth figure)

66 68 74 75 Fair

2021/22 Comparitors (PERCENTAGE of 

Cared For Childrenwith 3 or more 

placements in the year):   CE 12%,  

Statistical Neighbours 10%,  All England 

10% . 

3.7

% cared for children in care for at least 2.5yrs at the end 

of the period and living in their current placement for at 

least 2 years
70% 65% 66% 70% 71% 71% 72% Fair

#NAME?

2021/22 comparitors updated.

Uses NI63  specification: Children Aged 

under 16, and where a child is placed for 

adoption, do not count the move to 

adoptive placement.

3.8

Number of cared for children placed over 20 miles from 

home address (Cheshire East and out of borough) 121 125 132 126 Fair

3.9 Number of children living out of borough 207 237 257 248 Fair

3.10

Number of cared for children who have been missing in 

the quarter 44 35 37 24 Fair

3.11

Number of children who have a long term matched 

placement 123 126 124 148 Fair

3.12
Number of placement moves in the quarter

105 (82 

individuals)

103 (85 

individuals)

81 (61 

individuals)

126 (107 

individuals) Fair

3.13

% of currently cared for children who have had a C&F 

assessment in the last 12 mths 79% 80% 77% 72% Fair
C&F - Children and Family

3.14

% of  Cared for Children in care for more that 1 mth who 

have had a review in the last 6 mths 91% 90% 89% 96% Fair

3.15

% of children ceased to be looked after due to granting 

of special guardianship order (SGO) - year to date figure
10% 6% 9% 10% 5% 13% 12% Fair

SGO - Special 

Guardianship Order
2021/22 comparitors updated

3.16

% of children ceased to be looked after due to adoption - 

year to date figure 7% 8% 8% 7% 8% 10% 11% Fair
2021/22 comparitors updated

3.17 Number of children with an adoption decision 34 37 24 37 Fair

3.18

Average number of days between entering care and 

moving in with adoptive family (A10 national indicator) - 

yearly figure 613 647 625 743 376 Fair

3.19

Average number of days between placement order and 

match with adoptive family  (A2 national indicator) - 

yearly figure 240 286 286 264 185 Fair

4.1

Children looked after who had their annual health 

assessment (%)
89% (OC2 

cohort) 75% 83% 89% 79%

89% (OC2 

cohort)

86% (OC2 

cohort) Fair

2021/22 Comparitors updated.

The published comparitors from the DfE 

SSDA903 return uses the 'OC2 cohort' of 

children i.e. Children who have been in 

care at least 1 year at 31st March.

4.2

Children looked after who had their teeth checked by a 

dentist in the last 12 months (%)
75% (OC2 

cohort) 44% 64% 75% 62%

70% (OC2 

cohort)

65% (OC2 

cohort) Fair

2021/22 Comparitors updated.

The published comparitors from the DfE 

SSDA903 return uses the 'OC2 cohort' of 

children i.e. Children who have been in 

care at least 1 year at 31st March.

P
ri

o
ri

ty
 3

 -
 W

e 
w

ill
 w

o
rk

 t
o

 g
iv

e 
al

l c
h

ild
re

n
 a

n
d

 y
o

u
n

g 
p

eo
p

le
 a

 f
o

re
ve

r 
h

o
m

e 
an

d
 k

ee
p

 t
h

em
 s

af
e

OFFICIAL-SENSITIVE

# OFFICIAL

P
age 46



Priority Indicator Indicator name

22/23 

outturn Q2 22/23 Q3 22/23 Q4 22/23 Q1 23/24

23/24    

outturn

Benchmark 

National 

(most recent 

available)

Benchmark 

Stat N'bour 

(most recent 

available)

Corporate 

Plan Aim Acronym Notes

G
en

er
al

4.3

% of 4-16 in care for 3 months or more with a 

completed SDQ score in the last 12 mths

77% (OC2 

cohort) 42% 65% 77% 63%

77% (OC2 

cohort)

75% (OC2 

cohort) Fair

SDQ - Strenghts and 

Difficulties Questionnaire.  

T

2021/22 Comparitors updated.

The published comparitors from the DfE 

SSDA903 return uses the 'OC2 cohort' of 

children i.e. Children who have been in 

care at least 1 year at 31st March.

4.4

% of young people with a SDQ score of 20 or above

28% (OC2 

cohort) 31% 27% 28% 29%

37% (OC2 

cohort)

40% (OC2 

cohort) Fair

SDQ - Strenghts and 

Difficulties Questionnaire.  

2021/22 Comparitors updated.

The published comparitors from the DfE 

SSDA903 return uses the 'OC2 cohort' of 

children i.e. Children who have been in 

care at least 1 year at 31st March.

4.5 Number of care leavers with a health passport 12/16  75% 8/14 57% 9/15 60% 28/29 97% Fair

5.1

% of care leavers aged 16-21 with an up to date pathway 

plan in the last 6 mths 80% 81% 74% 69% Fair

5.2

% of pathway plan reviews completed in timescales in 

the quarter 92% 78% 66% 77% Fair

5.3

% of pathway plan reviews completed in the quarter 

where Young persons view were not sent/ gained 6% 12% 9% 12% Fair

5.4

% of former relevant care leaver aged 18-21 that we are 

in touch with 99% 99% 96% 99% Fair

5.5

% of 16-17 years old currently cared for with a PA 

allocated 46% 52% 82% 100% Fair
PA - Personal Advisor

5.6

% of 17-18  former relevant care leavers in suitable 

accommodation
93% at yp 

birthday 92% 97% 93% 98%

90% at yp 

birthday

88% at yp 

birthday Fair

2021/22 comparitors updated.  

Whereas the quarterly collection is the 

yp status at the end of the qtr, The DfE 

comparitor figures relate the each yp 

status around the time of their birthday 

during the collection year.

5.7

% of 19-21 former relevant care leavers in suitable 

accommodation 

97% at yp 

birthday 95% 97% 97% 97%

88% at yp 

birthday

88% at yp 

birthday Fair

2021/22 comparitors updated.  

Whereas the quarterly collection is the 

yp status at the end of the qtr, The DfE 

comparitor figures relate the each yp 

status around the time of their birthday 

during the collection year.

5.8
Number current UASC being cared for 

57 34 56 57 55 Fair

UASC - Unaccompanied 

Asylum Seeker

5.9
Number current/ former UASC care leavers (aged 18-24)

58 64 42 77 Fair

UASC - Unaccompanied 

Asylum Seeker

5.10 Number of individuals in staying put arrangement 31 36 29 37 Fair

P
ri

o
ri

ty
 5

 -
 W

e 
w

ill
 p

re
p

ar
e 

yo
u

n
g 

p
eo

p
le

 f
o

r 
A

d
u

lt
h

o
o

d

OFFICIAL-SENSITIVE

# OFFICIAL

P
age 47



T
his page is intentionally left blank



  

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

NHS Universal Family 

(Care Leaver Covenant) 

Programme   

Helen Case Designated Nurse Children in Care, 

Sefton Place  

2 June 2023  

 

 
 

Page 49 Agenda Item 7



  

1 
 

NHS Universal Family (Care Leavers Covenant) Programme  
 

 

1. Executive Summary 
1.1 It is well recognised that care experienced individuals often have far poorer 

outcomes than their non-care experienced peers. 

 

1.2 The Care Leaver Covenant is a promise made by the private, public and voluntary 

sectors to provide support for care experienced young people aged 16-25 to help 

them to live independently. 

 

1.3 On 27 October 2022 NHS Chief Executive Amanda Pritchard made a commitment 

to supporting care experienced young people announcing that NHSE would be 

signing the Care Leavers Covenant on behalf of all NHS organisations.  

 

1.4 On 6 December 2022 a letter was shared with Integrated Care Board (ICB) Chief 

People Officers, Regional Workforce and Operational Development Directors, 

looking to identify 10 ICB pathfinders to join NHSE on the start of the journey to 

introduce the NHS Universal Family (Care Leavers Covenant) Programme. 

Designated Nurses for Children in Care were asked to submit an expression of 

interest in becoming one of the pathfinder organisations but unfortunately due to the 

tight turnaround the deadline for submission had passed.  

 

1.5 The selected 10 ICB pathfinders are to employ 250 care experienced young people 

in total by the end of the 2023-24 financial year. The programme will then be 

widened to all 42 ICBs to meet a target of 500 care leavers being employed in 2024-

25 and then move to an annual target of 1000 employment opportunities being 

provided for care experienced young people in 2025-26. 

 

1.6 ICBs and NHS Trusts do not have to wait for the national roll out of the NHS 

Universal Family (Care Leavers Covenant) Programme. A paper was approved by 

the NHS Cheshire and Merseyside Executive Board in January 2023, that agreed to 

the progression of the NHS Universal Family (Care Leavers Covenant) Programme 

in 2023-24 although NHS Cheshire and Merseyside is not a pathfinder ICB. 

 

1.7 This report provides an update on the progress so far and identifies the next steps 

to be taken.  

 

2. Introduction / Background 
2.1 In the UK, on average young people now live in their family home until the age of 

23. Yet, when it comes to the highly vulnerable in our society – those who have been 

in foster care or a children’s home, the expectation is that young people start to live 

independently at 18, or in some cases even younger. Sadly, we know that care 

Page 50



  

2 
 

experienced young people often have far poorer outcomes than their peers. By the 

time they reach 19-21 years old, 4 in 10 are not in education, employment or 

training. Many suffer with poor physical and mental health and are at even greater 

risk of suicide than their non-care experienced peers.  

 
2.2 In July 2016, the Government published a major policy document ‘Keep on Caring’ 

to support young people from care to independence. A key policy commitment in the 

paper is a strategic pledge to introduce a Care Leaver Covenant. The Covenant is a 

promise made by the private, public and voluntary sectors to provide support for 

care leavers aged 16-25 to help them to live independently. The aim of the Care 

Leaver Covenant, to which organisations commit, is to provide additional support for 

those leaving care; making available a different type of support and expertise from 

that statutorily provided by local authorities. Drawing on the resourcefulness and 

imagination of their staff and their working environment, organisations have the 

potential to offer new perspectives and professional expertise. These can offer 

opportunities and a new way of thinking to aid the care leavers in moving forward 

successfully to the next phase of their lives.  

 

2.3 The Care Leaver Covenant is funded by the Department for Education and 

delivered by Spectra. Spectra are a social impact company and were appointed, in 

2018, as the national delivery partner for the Care Leaver Covenant. They design 

and deliver social impact and inclusion programmes for governments and 

organisations across sectors. Over 330 organisations, across all sectors and 

industries, have ‘signed’ the Covenant and are providing tangible offers and 

opportunities to care experienced young people in England. 

 

2.4 On 27 October 2022 NHS Chief Executive Amanda Pritchard made a commitment 

to supporting care experienced young people announcing that NHSE would be 

signing the Care Leavers Covenant on behalf of all NHS organisations. The concept 

of the NHS Universal Family is at the heart of the Care Leaver Covenant and the 

NHS is committed to improving outcomes for care experienced individuals, whilst 

also harnessing the talent that lies in the care leaver community to help the NHS 

better serve our patients and our communities. The NHS also recognises that it has 

something to offer our care experienced young people - the opportunity to have a 

fulfilling career in the NHS.  

 
2.5 The NHS Universal Family (Care Leavers Covenant) Programme aims to: 

 

• Make a firm and visible commitment to supporting care experienced young 

people in our NHS Family.  

• Ensure 250 care experienced young people, access employment, education and 

training opportunities in service by 2024. 

• Establish and implement the NHS Care Leavers internship scheme in partnership 

with Covenant. 

Page 51



  

3 
 

• Work with Covenant to develop a ‘Care Leaver’s Offer’ in 10 pilot Integrated Care 

Boards (ICBs) supported centrally for ICBs to take forward the covenant in their 

communities.  

• Ensure strong advocacy from National, ICB and Provider leadership community, 

led by Thomas Simons, Chief HR & OD Officer and Deputy National Director of 

People.  

 
2.6 On 6 December 2022 a letter was shared with ICB Chief People Officers, Regional 

Workforce and Operational Development Directors, looking to identify 10 ICB 

pathfinders to join NHSE on the start of the journey to introduce the NHS Universal 

Family (Care Leavers Covenant) Programme. NHSE indicated that they would 

provide £25,000 to support each successful pathfinder site. The deadline for 

expressions of interest in becoming a pathfinder ICB was 16 December 2022.   

 

2.7 The selected 10 ICB pathfinders are to employ 250 care experienced young people 

in total by the end of the 2023-24 financial year. The programme will then be widened 

to all 42 ICBs to meet a target of 500 care leavers being employed in 2024-25 and 

then move to an annual target of 1000 employment opportunities being provided for 

care experienced young people in 2025-26.  

 

2.8 The NHSE Programme team are working up a draft plan, and but this will be finalised 

in collaboration with the 10 pathfinder ICBs as part of early steps workshops.  A toolkit 

(or similar) is intended to be co-produced as a specific output of the pathfinders and 

used as part of the full national roll out.  

 

2.9 ICBs and NHS Trusts do not have to wait for the national roll out of the NHS Universal 

Family (Care Leavers Covenant) Programme. A paper was approved by the NHS 

Cheshire and Merseyside Executive Board in January 2023, that agreed to the 

progression of the NHS Universal Family (Care Leavers Covenant) Programme in 

2023-24 although NHS Cheshire and Merseyside is not a pathfinder ICB. 

 

3. Progress So Far and Next Steps  
3.1 Since the paper was approved, the following progress has been made: 

 

• We have met with Spectra and registered NHS Cheshire and Merseyside’s 

intention  

• We have met with the NHSE system resourcing team to discuss NHS Cheshire 

and Merseyside’s intention  

• We have/are in the process of ensuring that the 9 place Corporate Parenting 

Boards are aware of the NHS Universal Family (Care Leavers Covenant) 

Programme 

• We have ensured that the Joint Forward Plan reflects the NHS Universal Family 

(Care Leavers Covenant) Programme 

Page 52



  

4 
 

• We have/are in the process of discussing the inclusion of the NHS Universal 

Family (Care Leavers Covenant) Programme in the 9 place plans  

• We have met with the Associate Director for Organisational Development  

• We have made contact with the Associate Directors for Workforce and Inclusion, 

Workforce and Education Transformation Lead and the Head of Communications 

• We have met with the Beyond Programme Leads  

• We have developed an initial suite of possible ‘offers’  

• We are in the process of consulting with care experienced young people across 

the 9 place areas about what they consider would be helpful to have within the 

‘offer’ 

• We have met with Workforce/HR leads to discuss the requirements and how to 

operationalise the ‘offer’  

 

 

3.2  Next Steps: 

• Review feedback from our young people and use this to help inform the final 

‘offer’  

• Ensure that the 9 Directors of Social Care are briefed regarding the final ‘offer’  

• Ensure that the 9 Corporate Parenting Bords are kept updated on the progress of 

this programme and the final ‘offer’ 

• Update the Beyond Programme Board  

• Inform Spectra of the final ‘offer’ so that it can be advertised on the webpages  

• Ensure that the final ‘offer’ is widely publicised via internal mechanisms and 

social media platforms 

• Share our learning with the NHSE system resourcing team 

• Consider how we encourage provider organisations to commit to the NHS 

Universal Family (Care Leavers Covenant) Programme 

 
 

4. Recommendations 
4.1 It is recommended that all relevant ICS place committee members note the content 

of this paper and NHS Cheshire and Merseyside’s commitment and progress in 

relation to the NHS Universal Family (Care Leavers Covenant) Programme. 

 

 
 

Helen Case  

Designated Nurse Children in Care  

Sefton Place – on behalf of all Designated Nurses Children in Care/Safeguarding 

Children NHS Cheshire and Merseyside  

helen.case@southseftonccg.nhs.uk  

Tel: 0151 317 8356 or 07769307719  

Page 53

mailto:helen.case@southseftonccg.nhs.uk


This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of Previous Meeting
	5 Cared for Children and Care Leavers Committee Annual Report 2022-23
	Cared for Children and Care Leaver Committee Annual Report 2022-23

	6 Cared for Children and Care Leavers Scorecard Q1 2023-24
	Appendix 1 - Q1 Scorecard

	7 NHS Universal Family (Care Leaver Covenant) Programme

